### Case 7:21-cv-03885-NSR Document 24 Filed 07/27/22 Page 1 of 17

### UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

BRANDY OLDREY, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,

v.

NESTLÉ WATERS NORTH AMERICA, INC.,

Defendant.

USDC SDNY DOCUMENT ELECTRONICALLY FILED DOC #: \_\_\_\_\_\_ DATE FILED: \_\_\_\_\_\_7/27/2022

21 CV 03885 (NSR) OPINION & ORDER

NELSON S. ROMÁN, United States District Judge:

Plaintiff Brandy Oldrey ("Plaintiff") brings this putative class action against Nestlé Waters North America, Inc.<sup>1</sup> ("Defendant"), alleging violation of New York's General Business Law §§ 349 and 350, breach of express warranty, breach of the implied warranty of merchantability, violation of the Magnuson Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, *et seq.*, negligent misrepresentation, fraud, and unjust enrichment. (ECF No. 1.) Presently before the Court is Defendant's motion to dismiss the Complaint. (ECF No. 16.) For the following reasons, the motion is GRANTED.

### **BACKGROUND**

The following facts are taken from Plaintiff's Complaint (ECF No. 1) and are accepted as true and construed in the light most favorable to Plaintiff for purposes of this motion.

Defendant is a multinational bottler of water products, and it manufactures, markets, and sells a raspberry and lime-flavored sparkling water under its Poland Springs brand (the "Product"). (Compl. ¶¶ 1; 64.) Defendant markets the Product as a way to "ditch the sugary sodas." (*Id.* ¶ 3.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Nestlé Waters North America, Inc. is now known as BlueTriton Brands, Inc.

### Case 7:21-cv-03885-NSR Document 24 Filed 07/27/22 Page 2 of 17

The Product has a label that states, "With a Twist of Raspberry Lime" and "Taste the Real" with pictures of raspberries and limes. (*Id.* ¶¶ 5; 7.)





Consumers seek sparkling waters with real fruit ingredients, and value raspberries and limes for their nutritive purposes. (*Id.* ¶¶ 5; 42.) However, most of the Product's flavoring is from non-raspberry and non-lime flavors. (*Id.* ¶ 22.) The ingredient list only includes "spring water, CO2, natural flavors." (*Id.* ¶ 23.) "Natural Flavors" is the term used where "a mix of extractives and essences from various fruits, along with additives and solvents, are combined in a laboratory." (*Id.* ¶ 24.) This fails to inform consumers that the Product's taste is mainly from fruits other than raspberries and limes. (*Id.* ¶ 25.) If the Product provided "all the flavor depth" of the named fruit ingredients, the label would state "raspberry oil, lime juice" instead of "Natural Flavors." (*Id.* ¶ 28.)

### Case 7:21-cv-03885-NSR Document 24 Filed 07/27/22 Page 3 of 17

Plaintiff alleges that Defendant's labeling misleads consumers as to the relative amount and quantity of raspberry and lime ingredients. (*Id.* ¶ 9.) Consumers expect the presence of a non*de minimis* amount of raspberry and lime ingredients based on the labeling, and consumers prefer foods which get their taste from food ingredients instead of added flavor as this is perceived as more natural, less processed and not exposed to additives or solvents. (*Id.* ¶¶ 10; 12.) The Product lacks "an authentic raspberry and lime taste" because it lacks sufficient amounts of the flavor compounds of these fruits. (*Id.* ¶ 40.)

The front label also includes a "disclaimer" which states "NATURALLY FLAVORED SPRING WATER WITH OTHER NATURAL FLAVORS AND CO2." (*Id.* ¶ 18.)



Plaintiff alleges that even if consumers examined this disclaimer after seeing the other representations, they would not know this meant the Product does not contain a "Twist of Raspberry Lime." (Id. ¶ 19.)

Plaintiff purchased the Product on at least one occasion. (*Id.*  $\P$  67.) She bought the Product because she expected it would provide the non-negligible amounts of the named fruit ingredients. (*Id.*  $\P$  68.) As a result of the representations, Defendant sold more of the Product and at higher prices, and Plaintiff bought the product and paid more than she would have absent the representations. (*Id.*  $\P$  52-55; 69-70.)

### Case 7:21-cv-03885-NSR Document 24 Filed 07/27/22 Page 4 of 17

Plaintiff initiated this action on May 2, 2021. (ECF No. 1.) On January 11, 2022, Defendant filed a motion to dismiss (ECF No. 16), and Plaintiff filed a brief in opposition (ECF No. 19.) Defendant also filed a notice of supplemental authority on April 7, 2022. (ECF No. 23.)

### LEGAL STANDARD

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), dismissal is proper unless the complaint "contain[s] sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to 'state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face." *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting *Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). When there are well-pled factual allegations in the complaint, "a court should assume their veracity and then determine whether they plausibly give rise to an entitlement to relief." *Id.* at 679.

While the Court must take all material factual allegations as true and draw reasonable inferences in the non-moving party's favor, the Court is "not bound to accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation," or to credit "mere conclusory statements" or "[t]hreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action." *Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 662, 678 (quoting *Twombly*, 550 U.S. at 555). The critical inquiry is whether the plaintiff has pled sufficient facts to nudge the claims "across the line from conceivable to plausible." *Twombly*, 550 U.S. at 570. A motion to dismiss will be denied where the allegations "allow[] the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged." *Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 678.

#### **DISCUSSION**

Plaintiff asserts claims against Defendant for (1) violations of §§ 349 and 350 of the New York General Business Law ("GBL"), (2) negligent misrepresentation, (3) breach of express warranty, (4) breach of implied warranty of merchantability, (5) violation of the Magnuson Moss Warranty Act ("MMWA"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, *et seq.*, (6) fraud, and (7) unjust enrichment. (Compl. ¶¶ 81-101.) The Court will examine each claim in turn.

### I. New York General Business Law Sections 349 and 350

Section 349 of the GBL involves unlawful deceptive acts and practices, while section 350 involves unlawful false advertising. "The standard for recovery under [Section] 350, while specific to false advertising, is otherwise identical to Section 349." *Denenberg v. Rosen*, 897 N.Y.S.2d 391, 396 (2010) (quoting *Goshen v. Mutual Life Ins. Co. of N.Y.*, 98 N.Y.2d 314, 324 n.1 (2002)). The elements of a cause of action under both Sections 349 and 350 are that: "(1) the challenged transaction was 'consumer-oriented'; (2) defendant engaged in deceptive or materially misleading acts or practices; and (3) plaintiff was injured by reason of defendant's deceptive or misleading conduct." *Id.* (citing *Oswego Laborers' Local 214 Pension Fund v. Marine Midland Bank*, 85 N.Y.2d 20, 25 (1995)).

The parties' main dispute in the instant motion involves the second element: whether Defendant engaged in deceptive or materially misleading acts or practices. To be actionable, the alleged deceptive act must be "likely to mislead a reasonable consumer acting reasonably under the circumstances." *Oswego*, 85 N.Y.2d at 26; *see also Orlander v. Staples, Inc.*, 802 F.3d 289, 300 (2d Cir. 2015) ("As for the 'materially misleading' prong, '[t]he New York Court of Appeals has adopted an objective definition of misleading, under which the alleged act must be likely to mislead a reasonable consumer acting reasonably under the circumstances."). In determining whether a reasonable consumer would be misled, "[c]ourts view each allegedly misleading statement in light of its context on the product label or advertisement as a whole." *Pichardo v. Only What You Need, Inc.*, No. 20-cv-493 (VEC), 2020 WL 6323775, at \*2 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 27, 2020) (citing *Wurtzburger v. Kentucky Fried Chicken*, No. 16-cv-08186, 2017 WL 6416296, at \*3 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 13, 2017)); *see also Fink v. Time Warner Cable*, 714 F.3d 739, 742 (2d Cir. 2013)

Find authenticated court documents without watermarks at <u>docketalarm.com</u>.

# DOCKET A L A R M



# Explore Litigation Insights

Docket Alarm provides insights to develop a more informed litigation strategy and the peace of mind of knowing you're on top of things.

# **Real-Time Litigation Alerts**



Keep your litigation team up-to-date with **real-time alerts** and advanced team management tools built for the enterprise, all while greatly reducing PACER spend.

Our comprehensive service means we can handle Federal, State, and Administrative courts across the country.

## **Advanced Docket Research**



With over 230 million records, Docket Alarm's cloud-native docket research platform finds what other services can't. Coverage includes Federal, State, plus PTAB, TTAB, ITC and NLRB decisions, all in one place.

Identify arguments that have been successful in the past with full text, pinpoint searching. Link to case law cited within any court document via Fastcase.

# **Analytics At Your Fingertips**



Learn what happened the last time a particular judge, opposing counsel or company faced cases similar to yours.

Advanced out-of-the-box PTAB and TTAB analytics are always at your fingertips.

### API

Docket Alarm offers a powerful API (application programming interface) to developers that want to integrate case filings into their apps.

### LAW FIRMS

Build custom dashboards for your attorneys and clients with live data direct from the court.

Automate many repetitive legal tasks like conflict checks, document management, and marketing.

### FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Litigation and bankruptcy checks for companies and debtors.

### E-DISCOVERY AND LEGAL VENDORS

Sync your system to PACER to automate legal marketing.